IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

NO. 23-0099  
GRIEVANCE COMMISSION NO. 935

---

IOWA SUPREME COURT ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY BOARD,  
Complainant-Appellee,

vs.

DAVID L. LEITNER,  
Respondent-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION  
OF THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

---

DAVID L. BROWN  
Hansen, McClintock & Riley  
Fifth Floor, U.S. Bank Building  
520 Walnut St.  
Des Moines, Iowa 50309  
Telephone: (515) 244-2141  
Facsimile: (515) 244-2931  
E-mail: [dlbrown@hmrlawfirm.com](mailto:dlbrown@hmrlawfirm.com)

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLANT,  
DAVID LEITNER

**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

### **I. Was the appropriate sanction imposed against David Leitner?**

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Heggan*, No. 22-0376 (Nov. 10, 2022).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Morse*, 887 N.W.2d 131, 144 (Iowa 2016).

*Iowa Supreme Ct Att’y. Disc. Bd. v. Smith*, 904 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa 2017).

**ROUTING STATEMENT**

As this is a matter regarding attorney discipline, it must be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa Ct. R. 35.10.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an attorney ethics case involving the Respondent, David Leitner. The Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board brought a complaint against David Leitner on March 9, 2022. (App. p. 4) After denial of a motion to dismiss by Leitner, the hearing was limited to the issue of sanction against Leitner. Mr. Leitner categorically denied the charges that were alleged against him and believed he had an agreement with the Ethics Board, for a sanction of a 60-day suspension. (App. p. 122). Had Mr. Leitner been given the opportunity, Mr. Leitner would have put on evidence to refute every allegation that has been deemed admitted. (App. p. 112)

A hearing was held before the 920th Division of the Grievance Commission on October 5, 2022. The Commission issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation on January 19, 2023. (App. p. 49) The Findings found David Leitner violated the rules of professional conduct and recommended Leitner's license to practice law be revoked. David Leitner timely filed an appeal of the Commission's findings. (App. p. 57)

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

David Leitner is 67 years old. (App. p. 78) He graduated from the University of Iowa Law School in 1979 and was admitted to practice in the same year. (App. pp. 79-80)

At no point did Mr. Leitner attempt to avoid service of process from the Board and, Mr. Leitner was fully co-operative with the Board's investigation. Mr. Leitner fully understood and appreciated the importance of the Board's investigation. (App. pp. 99-100)

Prior to opening his own practice in 1988, Mr. Leitner practiced Child Support Recovery, working for Grinnell Mutual Reinsurance Company, and Allied Insurance. (App. p. 61). Once opening his own practice, Mr. Leitner specialized in criminal defense, personal injury, divorces, general civil litigation, estate planning, and business and tax advice. (App. p. 61).

Mr. Leitner has an extensive pro bono work history, with multiple examples of providing exceptional legal work knowing his clients will not be able to pay for his services. Leitner has consistently provided legal representation to an underserved part of the community. (App. pp. 94-97)

Mr. Leitner's wife died five years ago, and he has two grown children. His daughter and seven-year-old granddaughter live with him. (App. p. 89)



Additionally, Mr. Leitner has two prescriptions for antidepressants. (App. p. 89)

## **ARGUMENT**

### **II. THE FACTS OF THE CASE DO NOT SUPPORT REVOCATION**

Error Preservation: This matter is fully preserved in the Stipulation, Board's Exhibits, Grievance Commission hearing transcript, and the Commission's Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Ruling.

Scope and Standard of Appellate Review: The Court reviews attorney disciplinary proceedings de novo. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Parrish*, 801 N.W.2d 580, 583 (Iowa 2011). The board has the burden of proving an attorney's ethical misconduct by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Gailey*, 790 N.W.2d 801, 803 (Iowa 2010). The appropriate discipline in a particular case turns on the nature of the alleged violations, the need for deterrence, protection of the public, maintenance of the reputation of the profession as a whole, and the Respondent's fitness to continue in the practice of law. *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Freeman*, 603 N.W.2d 600, 603 (Iowa 1999). The commission's findings and recommendations are given respectful

consideration, but [the Court] are not bound by them. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Isaacson*, 750 N.W.2d 104, 106 (Iowa 2008).

There is no standard discipline for a particular type of attorney misconduct. *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Hohenadel*, 634 N.W.2d 652, 655 (Iowa 2001). The form and extent of any sanction must be tailored to the specific facts and circumstances of each individual case. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Marks*, 759 N.W.2d 328, 332 (Iowa 2009). Heavily considering the particular circumstances of each case. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disc. Bd. v. Lynch*, 901 N.W.2d 501, 509 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disc. Bd. v. Willey*, 889 N.W.2d 647, 657 (Iowa 2017)). The Court is, however, concerned with maintaining some degree of consistency throughout disciplinary cases. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Clauss*, 711 N.W.2d 1, 4 (Iowa 2006).

## ARGUMENT

### **A. There is no reasonable basis or support for the most severe sanction.**

The hearing in front of the Grievance Commission was limited to the issue of sanction against David Leitner. The Disciplinary Board did not present any evidence, contrary to the affirmative evidence put on by Leitner. Mr. Leitner categorically denied the charges that were alleged against him and believed he had an agreement with the Ethics Board, for a sanction of a 60-

day suspension. (App. p. 122) Had Mr. Leitner been given the opportunity, he would have put on evidence to refute every allegation that had been deemed admitted. (App. p. 114)

Leitner timely filed a resistance to the exhibits used by the Board. (App. p. 42) The Board objected to Leitner's exhibits producing the email conversation between him and Larry Dempsey. (App. p. 64) These exhibits were taken under advisement by the Panel, before being admitted. (App. p. 49) The probative value of the conversation between Leitner and Dempsey substantially outweighs any undue prejudice and delay or waste of time. Iowa Rule of Evidence 5.408. This is an issue of first impression regarding an ethics case where the ethics prosecutors are trying to prevent the respondent from putting on evidence to defend themselves from losing their license, in support of their position as to what the appropriate sanction should be. (App. p. 72)

The Board must prove each alleged ethical violation by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Rhinehart*, 953 N.W.2d 156, 162 (Iowa 2021). "A convincing preponderance of the evidence lies between the preponderance-of-the-evidence standard in a civil case and the 3 reasonable-doubt standard in a criminal case." *Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Noyes*, 936 N.W.2d 440, 442 (Iowa 2019).

In this matter, the sanction to be imposed is simple - a 60-day suspension of Mr. Leitner's license with automatic reinstatement. Larry Dempsey, Assistant Ethics Counsel with the Attorney Disciplinary Board, offered Mr. Leitner this exact suspension. (App. p. 64) Once this offer was proposed, Mr. Leitner timely accepted this sanction. (App. p. 103) This acceptance was made by Mr. Leitner on a phone call between him and Mr. Dempsey. (App. p. 103) Acceptance was never memorialized due to the conduct of Mr. Dempsey. Leitner took the initiative on this phone call to tell Dempsey to send him the paperwork. (App. p. 103) Dempsey never sent Leitner this paperwork. Dempsey never interacted with Leitner in person. Leitner must not be penalized additionally.

Mr. Leitner was fully cooperative with the investigation. Full cooperation with the Board's investigation is a mitigating factor. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disc. Bd. v. Heggan*, No. 22-0376 (Nov. 10, 2022). Mr. Leitner was open and offered great assistance during the investigation conducted by Mr. Dempsey, "I was being as honest and open as I could be. I know it's foolish to try and make stuff up or hide things because then you just dig yourself a hole." (App. p. 100) Despite his candor, Mr. Leitner was not afforded the same respect during the investigation, "[Mr. Leitner] had a little difficulty communicating with [Mr. Dempsey] because [Mr. Dempsey] kept

calling [Mr. Leitner] a LIAR... It's difficult to talk to somebody who is going to call you names for no apparent reason." (App. pp. 109-110) This conduct is precluded by the ethics rules, "Iowa Courts strongly disfavor accusations of attorney unethical conduct." *State v. Ernst*, 909 N.W.2d 442 (Iowa 2017) (quoting *State v. Webb*, 244 N.W.2d 332, 333 (Iowa 1976) (particularly when one lawyer undertakes to accuse another of unethical conduct)).

Additionally, Mr. Leitner was a co-operative witness. He respects the authority of the Ethics Board and the severity of their investigation, "I understand the importance of this Board and its function, and there's no reason to avoid them or to dismiss them in any way." (App. p. 111) When testifying to working with the Ethics Board during their investigation Mr. Leitner says he, "[W]as always as cooperative as I could be and as respectful as possible." Co-operation with the Ethics Board is a mitigating factor. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disc. Bd. v. Morse*, 887 N.W.2d 131, 144 (Iowa 2016).

Furthermore, Mr. Leitner has already been punished via a fine for violation of the trust account rules, he must not be punished twice for the same violation.

## **B. MITIGATING FACTORS**

Mr. Leitner has an extensive pro bono work history, with multiple examples of providing exceptional legal work knowing his clients will not be

able to pay for his services. Providing legal representation to an underserved part of the community is a significant mitigating factor. *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Sobel*, 779 N.W.2d 782 (Iowa 2010); *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Taylor*, 814 N.W.2d 259, 268 (Iowa 2012). Mr. Leitner also has a lengthy and distinguished record of service to the bar, substantial service to the profession is a mitigating factor. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disc. Bd. v. Iversen*, 723 N.W.2d 806, 811 (Iowa 2006).

Mr. Leitner’s health is unenviable, he has had 23 surgeries in the past 25 years. Additionally, Mr. Leitner has two prescriptions for antidepressants. Physical and mental health limitations are considered mitigating factors when determining attorney sanctions. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Atty Disc. Bd. v. Cannon*, 821 N.W.2d 873, 881 (Iowa 2012).

At no point did Mr. Leitner attempt to avoid service of process from the Board and, Mr. Leitner was fully co-operative with the Board’s investigation. Full cooperation with the commission is considered by the Court to be a significant mitigating factor, “Additionally, significant mitigating factors are present here... [Smith cooperated fully with the auditor, the commission, and the Board.” *Iowa Supreme Court Atty. Disc. Bd. v. Smith*, 904 N.W.2d 154 (Iowa 2017). Mr. Leitner fully understood and appreciated the importance of the Board’s investigation.

## **CONCLUSION**

To uphold the public's trust in the Attorney Discipline Board it is essential that they be held to the agreements they make. David Leitner should receive at most, the 60-day suspension with automatic reinstatement as offered by the Board and accepted by him.

## **APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF DESIRE TO BE HEARD IN ORAL ARGUMENT**

Appellant hereby states his desire to be heard in oral argument pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.21(1).

**CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPE-VOLUME  
LIMITATION, TYPEFACE  
REQUIREMENTS, AND TYPE-STYLE REQUIREMENTS**

1. This brief complies with the type-volume limitation of Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(1)(g)(1) or (2) because: