**In the Supreme Court of Iowa**

---

**Supreme Court No. 23-0099  
Grievance Commission No. 935**

---

**Iowa Supreme Court  
Attorney Disciplinary Board,**

**Appellee,**

**vs.**

**David L. Leitner,**

**Appellant**

---

**Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance  
Commission**

---

**Appellee's Final Brief**

---

**Alexis W. Grove, AT0013501  
Iowa Judicial Branch Building  
1111 East Court Avenue  
Des Moines, IA 50319-5003  
Telephone: (515) 348-4680  
Fax: (515) 348-4699  
alexis.grove@iowacourts.gov**

**Attorney for Appellee**

##

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. SHOULD THE BOARD'S INITIAL—AND SUBSEQUENTLY REJECTED—OFFER TO RECOMMEND A 60-DAY SUSPENSION IN CONNECTION WITH AN ATTORNEY'S CONSENT TO DISCIPLINE CREATE AN UPPER BOUND ON SANCTION IN LIGHT OF THE BOARD'S LATER DISCOVERY AND PROSECUTION OF ADDITIONAL CONDUCT SUPPORTING REVOCATION?**

### Rules

Iowa Ct. R. 34.16

Iowa Ct. R. 34.16(1), (2)

Iowa Ct. R. 34.16(3)

- II. GIVEN THE PROCEDURAL POSTURE OF THE CASE THAT ALL ALLEGATIONS HAVE BEEN DEEMED ADMITTED, WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION?**

### Cases

*Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Pracht*, 505 N.W.2d 196 (Iowa 1993)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Aeilts*, 974 N.W.2d 119 (Iowa 2022)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Alexander*, 727 N.W.2d 120 (Iowa 2007)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Bieber*, 824 N.W.2d 514 (Iowa 2013)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Bauermeister*, 927 N.W.2d 170 (Iowa 2019)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Den Beste*, 933 N.W.2d 251 (Iowa 2019)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Dunahoo*, 739 N.W.2d 202 (Iowa 2007)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Engelmann*, 840 N.W.2d 156 (Iowa 2019)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Heggen*, 981 N.W.d 701 (Iowa 2022)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Kieffer-Garrison*, 847 N.W.2d 489 (Iowa 2014)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Nelsen*, 807 N.W.2d 259 (Iowa 2011)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Parrish*, 925 N.W.2d 163 (Iowa 2019)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Springer*, 904 N.W.2d 589 (Iowa 2017)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Watkins*, 944 N.W.2d 881 (Iowa 2020)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Wheeler*, 824 N.W.2d 505 (Iowa 2012)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Frerichs*, 671 N.W.2d 470 (Iowa 2003)

*Iowa Sup. Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Tofflemire*, 689 N.W.2d 83 (Iowa 2004)

## **Rules**

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:8.1

Iowa Ct. R. 36.5(3)

Iowa Ct. R. 36.7



## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Supreme Court should retain this case pursuant to Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2) because this is a case involving lawyer discipline.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case**

The Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board (“the Board”) brought this lawyer disciplinary action against David L. Leitner (“Leitner”) alleging violations of the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct and Iowa Trust Account Rules associated with Leitner’s creation and use of Foodprairie, L.L.C. on behalf of client Mitchell; his representation of Barney in a dissolution-of-marriage action; his representation of Lu-Jen Farms, Inc. in a contract dispute; his representation of Elizabeth John in a guardianship matter; and an audit of Leitner’s trust account records.

### **Course of Proceedings and Disposition**

On March 9, 2022, the Board filed a Complaint against Leitner. (Appendix (“App.”) 4). On March 24, David L. Brown entered an appearance on behalf of Leitner. Leitner failed to file his answer by the filing deadline of April 13. On April 18, the Board filed its Motion to Deem Complaint Admitted. Leitner

resisted on April 28. The panel president granted the Board's motion on May 13, after a hearing on the matter and by which point Leitner had still filed no answer. (App. 40).

On October 5, 2022, a hearing was held in this matter before the 655<sup>th</sup> Division of the Grievance Commission ("the Commission"). On November 14, the Board and Leitner submitted Post-Hearing Briefs. On January 19, 2023, the Commission filed its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommendation. (App. 49).

### **Commission's Conclusion and Recommendations**

The Commission concluded that Leitner violated Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct 32:1.2(d) and 32:8.4(d) with respect to Count I (Foodprairie Matter); rules 32:3.3(a)(1), 32:8.4(c), and 32:8.4(d) with respect to Count II (Barney Matter); rules 32:1.7(a)(2), 32:1.9(a), and 32:1.9(c) with respect to Count III (Lu-Jen Matter); rule 32:8.4(d) with respect to Count IV (Elizabeth John Matter); and rules 32:1.15(a), 32:1.15(c), and 32:8.4(d) and Iowa Court Rules 45.2(3)(a)(9), 45.7(3), and 45.7(4) with respect to Count V

(Trust Account Audit).<sup>1</sup> (App. 52–55). The Commission recommended that Leitner’s license to practice law be revoked. (App. 55–56).

### **Leitner’s Appeal**

On January 24, 2023, Leitner filed his notice of appeal with the Commission clerk. (App. 57).

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Leitner was admitted to practice law in the state of Iowa on July 25, 1979, and maintains a law practice in West Des Moines. (App. 4–5).<sup>2</sup>

#### *Representation of Marvin Mitchell and Creation of Foodprairie, LLC*

Leitner has long served as the attorney for an individual named Marvin Mitchell (“Mitchell”), representing him in various matters since at least 2004. (App. 5). Mitchell has been involved in the farming industry for several decades, and his business has involved the sale and distribution of seed. (App. 5). In or around 2007, Mitchell was indicted for bankruptcy fraud in federal court and was subsequently sentenced to 18 months in prison. (App. 5).

---

<sup>1</sup> The Board also charged a violation of rule 32:1.15(f) in connection with Leitner’s audit, although the Commission declined to address the rule in its Report. (App. 55).

<sup>2</sup> Because of Leitner’s failure to file a timely answer and the Commission’s subsequent order deeming allegations admitted, the allegations contained in the Complaint are considered facts proven true in the record. For ease, the Board will cite to the Complaint itself when referencing these facts.

Mitchell pled guilty to concealing assets by creating various business entities and then transferring funds, land, equipment, and other assets to those entities prior to declaring bankruptcy. (App. 5). Mitchell owes substantial sums of money to the federal government and, as a consequence, any income he receives is potentially subject to garnishment by federal authorities. (App. 5). Mitchell owes approximately \$71,000.00 to the United States Department of Agriculture and also has several federal tax liens against his home. (App. 5).

On or about March 27, 2013, Leitner filed a certificate of organization with the Iowa Secretary of State creating a limited liability company known as Foodprairie, L.L.C. (“Foodprairie”). (App. 6). In subsequent biennial reports filed by Leitner, he describes himself as the “managing member” of Foodprairie. (App. 6). Leitner created Foodprairie as part of a deliberate scheme to hide Mitchell’s funds from creditors, including the federal government. (App. 6). On or about November 28, 2016, Leitner opened a bank account for Foodprairie at Central Bank in Iowa. (App. 6). In the account agreement Leitner signed when opening the account, he described Foodprairie as a “single-member LLC.” (App. 6). Leitner further certified that he was the “manager or designated member” of Foodprairie. (App. 6).

Mitchell has continued to work in the farming industry since his criminal conviction and has received income from that work. (App. 6). At least part of that income has been concealed using the Foodprairie business entity and bank account established by Leitner. (App. 6). Mitchell's work in the farming industry since his conviction has included the sale of seed. (App. 6). In or around March of 2017, Mitchell entered into a contract to become a dealer of Pfister Seed ("Pfister") products.<sup>3</sup> (App. 6-7). Eric Schweinefus, a Pfister employee at that time, knew Mitchell from previous business dealings and approached Mitchell about becoming a Pfister dealer. (App. 7). Mitchell told Schweinefus that he wanted to become a Pfister dealer but said that he did not want his own name associated with the Pfister dealership. (App. 7). Mitchell told Schweinefus that his lawyer, Leitner, could help establish the Pfister dealership without using Mitchell's name. (App. 7).

Schweinefus provided Mitchell with a copy of Pfister's standard dealership agreement, which was later signed by Leitner. (App. 7). The completed dealership form listed Foodprairie as the dealer and Leitner as Foodprairie's "sole member." (App. 7). Mitchell's name does not appear on the

---

<sup>3</sup> Pfister Seeds subsequently merged with NuTech Seed, which is a subsidiary of Corteva, Inc. (App. 7 n.4).

form. (App. 7). The completed dealership agreement form was subsequently sent to Jim Riefenrath (“Riefenrath”), an Assistant General Manager for Pfister. (App. 7).

Upon receiving the dealership agreement, Riefenrath was initially confused, as he had previously been told by Schweinefus that the dealership agreement would be between Pfister and Mitchell. (App. 7). Riefenrath subsequently participated in a telephone conference call with both Mitchell and Leitner, during which Leitner indicated that Foodprairie was his company. (App. 8). Leitner and Mitchell both agreed that Mitchell’s dealership agreement with Pfister should be in Foodprairie’s name. (App. 8).

After executing the dealership agreement, Mitchell began selling Pfister products and earning commissions and fees for his sales. (App. 8). Some or all of the funds owed to Mitchell under the terms of the dealership agreement were wired to the Foodprairie account at Central Bank. (App. 8). While working as a dealer of Pfister products, Mitchell earned substantial sums of money from Pfister, but the funds were always cloaked in the Foodprairie name. (App. 8).

Creating Foodprairie, opening a bank account in its name, and entering into the contract with Pfister under the name of Foodprairie were all an artifice developed with Leitner’s assistance to provide Mitchell with a means of

receiving funds without detection by creditors, including the federal government. (App. 8). Leitner allowed Mitchell to use an LLC that Leitner created—Foodprairie—to help Mitchell conceal income from his creditors, including the federal government. (App. 8). Leitner opened a bank account in Foodprairie’s name and allowed Mitchell to use the account to receive money surreptitiously. (App. 9). Leitner facilitated the contract between Mitchell and Pfister and executed the dealership agreement with Pfister in the name of Foodprairie so that Mitchell could do business without detection or garnishment of funds earned. (App. 9).

*Barney Matter*

On April 14, 2020, Leitner filed an appearance on behalf of Brooks Barney (“Barney”) in Polk County Case No. DRCV060024—a dissolution-of-marriage-action filed by Barney’s then-spouse, Deena Fries (“Fries”). (App. 10). Leitner had previously represented Barney in a criminal case in which Barney was charged with assaulting Fries (*State v. Barney*, Polk County Case No. FECR336891). (App. 10).

The parties participated in a successful mediation regarding the dissolution-of-marriage action and signed a mediated agreement on July 21, 2020. (App. 10). Based upon the mediation agreement, Fries’s counsel,

Elizabeth Kellner-Nelson (“Kellner-Nelson”), prepared a stipulation comprised of the agreed-upon terms and emailed it, in a PDF format, to Leitner on August 3, 2020. (App. 10). Leitner returned what appeared to be the same PDF, signed by himself and Barney, to Kellner-Nelson by email on or about August 21, 2020. (App. 10).

Unbeknownst to Kellner-Nelson, Leitner had modified the PDF document containing the stipulation, adding a significant provision regarding custody of the parties’ minor child. (App. 10). Paragraph 3 of the original PDF Kellner-Nelson sent to Leitner states:

Visitation. Unless otherwise agreed, Brooks will be entitled to time with B.S.B. every other weekend from Saturday at 4:00 p.m. until Sunday at 7:00 p.m. and every Tuesday from 6:00 p.m. until Wednesday at 7:00 a.m.

(App. 11). Leitner modified the PDF to state:

Visitation. Unless otherwise agreed, Brooks will be entitled to time with B.S.B. every other weekend from Saturday at 4:00 p.m. until Sunday at 7:00 p.m. and every Tuesday from 6:00 p.m. until Wednesday at 7:00 a.m. *Respondent sha [sic] first right of refusal to have B.S.B. whenever Petitioner is otherwise unable to care for him.*

(App. 11) (emphasis added).

At no point did Leitner notify Kellner-Nelson that he had modified the PDF document to add the “right-of-first-refusal provision.” (App. 11). The right-of-first-refusal provision was also not part of the parties’ mediation



agreement. (App. 11). Moreover, neither the parties nor their respective counsel had ever previously discussed a right-of-first-refusal provision. (App. 11). Rather, Leitner unilaterally inserted the provision without notifying or consulting with Kellner-Nelson. (App. 11).

Because the stipulation had been sent and returned as a PDF document, and because Leitner did not notify her of the modification to paragraph 3, Kellner-Nelson reasonably believed the PDF document Leitner returned to her was the same as the one she had sent to him, changed only to add the signature of his client. (App. 11–12). Kellner-Nelson had reviewed the stipulation with Fries before sending it to Leitner, so after Leitner returned the stipulation that he had surreptitiously modified, Fries signed it, reasonably believing it to be the same stipulation she had previously reviewed with her attorney. (App. 12).

The stipulation was filed with the district court on August 25, 2020. (App. 12). In January of 2021, Barney—who at the time was subject to both a criminal and a civil no-contact order in which Fries was the protected party—notified Fries of his right of first refusal based upon the modified stipulation. (App. 12). On January 25, Kellner-Nelson filed a motion to vacate the order approving the parties' stipulation. (App. 12). On March 29, Leitner filed an application to initiate contempt proceedings based in part on the allegation that Fries had

failed to honor the right-of-first-refusal provision Leitner had furtively added to the stipulation. (App. 12).

Following a hearing on June 29 regarding the motion to vacate the stipulation and the application to initiate contempt proceedings, the district court entered an order granting Fries's motion to vacate the order approving the stipulation. (App. 12). The court also found Leitner and his client engaged in fraud when modifying the stipulation to include the right-of-first-refusal provision. (App. 12-13).

The court found that Leitner and his client intentionally deceived Fries and Kellner-Nelson, finding "an intent to deceive based on the manner in which the provision was inserted and returned without any suggestion that a revision had been made." (App. 13). The court further noted that Fries was damaged by the fraudulent insertion of the right-of-first-refusal provision. (App. 13).

The court explained:

Fries is currently protected by a five-year criminal No Contact Order after Barney plead [sic] guilty to domestic abuse assault by impeding breathing without injury. Barney's interpretation of the right of first refusal would require Fries to alert him anytime she decided to leave the minor child in someone else's care (such as at home with her older children), even if it was only for an hour to go to the gym or the grocery store. Essentially Fries would have to disclose far greater information about her daily life to someone against whom she is protected by a No Contact Order.

The testimony in this case demonstrates the problematic nature of Barney's claims. Barney called two different witnesses to report that Fries had been seen at a bar on a weekend night and a Prairie Meadows on New Year's Eve. He messaged Fries while she was at the grocery store to ask where the child was if he wasn't with her. Clearly, Barney is keeping tabs on Fries' whereabouts, despite the existence of a No Contact Order.

(App. 13) (footnote omitted). The court also denied Barney's application to initiate contempt proceedings. (App. 14).

Leitner's covert modification of the stipulation was not Leitner's only dishonest act while representing Barney. (App. 14). On December 2, 2020, Kellner-Nelson filed an application to initiate contempt proceedings based on Barney's failure to pay either child support or his required \$200 monthly car payments to Fries. (App. 14). In response, Leitner filed a motion to dismiss the contempt application in which he falsely stated that Barney had "brought his child support current," Barney had paid the \$200 monthly car payment, and the contempt application was "frivolous." (App. 14). On January 14, 2021, the district court entered an order holding Barney in contempt and finding that he had willfully failed to pay child support and the car payment. (App. 14).

On February 25, 2021, Kellner-Nelson filed a motion to waive a mediation that had been ordered in response to her application to vacate the parties' stipulation. (App. 14). On March 3, Leitner filed a resistance to the motion in

which he falsely claimed that he had “tried, without success, to get opposing counsel to set up the mediation or at least provide alternative dates.” (App. 14). Leitner had made no effort to contact Kellner-Nelson about mediation. (App. 14).

A hearing was scheduled for July 8, 2021, to determine if Barney had complied with the contempt order, but neither Leitner nor Barney appeared for the hearing. (App. 15). The presiding judge contacted Leitner by phone to inquire why he and his client had not appeared for the hearing. (App. 15). Leitner stated that he believed the hearing was by phone and that he had told his client he did not need to participate in the hearing. (App. 15). The hearing was rescheduled for July 19. (App. 15). At the July 19 hearing, however, Barney testified that Leitner had not notified him of the July 8 compliance hearing, and he was not told of any hearing until July 16. (App. 15).

#### *Lu-Jen Matter*

On April 16, 2020, Leitner filed an answer on behalf of Lu-Jen Farms, Inc. (“Lu-Jen”) and Cliff Bowie in Cedar County Case No. LACV036444. (App. 16). The suit was initiated by the James D. Jamison Irrevocable Trust (“Jamison”) against Lu-Jen and alleged breach of contract, among other claims. (App. 16). The petition alleged the parties entered into a contract in which Lu-Jen agreed

to purchase all of its corn and soybean crop from Jamison, but Lu-Jen had failed to make payment to Jamison as required by the contract. (App. 16).

Leitner previously represented Jamison; Leitner drafted the contract in question on behalf of Jamison.<sup>4</sup> (App. 16). Although he himself drafted the contract, in the answer he filed on behalf of Lu-Jen, Leitner stated, “the alleged contract is unconscionable and void as against public policy.” (App. 16). Leitner also stated in the answer that Jamison, his former client, “is not and was not at the time claimed a licensed dealer of agricultural seed.” (App. 17).

On April 23, 2020, Jamison’s counsel, Daniel Rockhold, sent Leitner a letter asking Leitner to withdraw from representing Lu-Jen because of the conflict of interest. (App. 17). Rockhold also notified Leitner that he would likely be a witness in the case, as Leitner had firsthand knowledge regarding the formation and execution of the contract. (App. 17). Leitner replied to Rockhold by letter dated April 30, acknowledging the conflict of interest and stating, “[U]pon further reflection, I do agree that I may have a conflict of interest.” (App. 17). Leitner indicated that he would be withdrawing because of the conflict of interest. (App. 17).

---

<sup>4</sup> Leitner drafted the contract for Jamison and Sons, a predecessor entity to the Jamison Irrevocable Trust. (App. 16 n.2).

Leitner did not withdraw his representation of Lu-Jen. (App. 17). On July 15, 2020, Rockhold filed a motion to disqualify Leitner, as Leitner had not voluntarily withdrawn. (App. 17). The district court entered an order disqualifying Leitner on August 3. (App. 17).

Following Leitner's disqualification, Jamison filed an amended petition on September 28, 2020. (App. 17). On October 20, Jamison served Lu-Jen with notice of intent to file an application for default judgment, as Lu-Jen had not filed an answer to the amended petition. (App. 17). On October 29, Leitner filed an answer to the amended petition on behalf of Lu-Jen. (App. 18). The answer was signed by Cliff Bowie, a representative of and co-defendant with Lu-Jen. (App. 18). However, the answer was filed by Leitner through his electronic document management account. (App. 18).

*Elizabeth John Matter*

On April 2, 2019, Leitner filed an appearance on behalf of Elizabeth John ("Elizabeth") in Polk County Case Nos. TRPR074630 and TRPR074636. (App. 19). The cases were initiated by Elizabeth's daughter, Kimberly Milliken ("Milliken"), and related to two trusts for which Elizabeth was the designated trustee. (App. 19). The petitions filed by Milliken alleged Elizabeth had been

deemed by a medical professional incapable of making financial decisions and sought to have Elizabeth replaced as trustee. (App. 19).

After the cases were initiated, Elizabeth met with her longtime attorney, Richard Howes (“Howes”), and informed him she wanted him to represent her in the trust cases. (App. 19). Howes contacted Leitner and informed him that he would be taking over representation of Elizabeth. (App. 19–20). On July 11, 2019, Howes filed an appearance in the trust cases on behalf of Elizabeth, and Leitner filed a withdrawal of his appearance on behalf of Elizabeth the following day. (App. 20).

On August 1, 2019, Milliken and Elizabeth filed a joint stipulation—signed by Elizabeth, Howes, and Milliken’s counsel—in which the two agreed that an amendment to the two trusts at issue should be revoked. (App. 20). The amendment had been prepared by Leitner on or around March 28, 2019. (App. 20). The March 28 amendment made several changes to the trusts, including eliminating or significantly reducing Milliken’s interests in two properties and granting those properties to Elizabeth’s son, Timothy John (“Timothy”). (App. 20).

Although he had withdrawn from the trust cases, Leitner filed an objection on behalf of Timothy to the stipulation on August 2, 2019. (App. 20).

In the objection, Leitner stated:

The undersigned [Leitner] can attest to the fact that that amendment was executed by Betsey John at a time when she was fully competent and had total testamentary capacity as defined in Iowa law. She insisted that that amendment be drafted, and it was. She signed of her own free will fully understanding its terms and its import.

(App. 20). On August 8, the court entered an order approving Milliken and Elizabeth's stipulation and revoking the March 28 amendment to the trusts.

(App. 21).

On October 15, 2019, Milliken filed a petition to appoint a guardian and conservator in which Elizabeth was the proposed protected person. (App. 21). The petition was based on the same grounds as the trust cases and alleged that Elizabeth's decision-making ability was significantly impaired. (App. 21). On October 16, the court entered an order appointing Howes as counsel for Elizabeth. (App. 21). The order also appointed Kim Walker of Transitional Life Counseling, LLC as Guardian ad Litem for Elizabeth and Milliken as temporary guardian. (App. 21).

Following the court's October 16 order, Timothy brought Elizabeth to meet with Leitner at Leitner's office to discuss the pending cases. (App. 21).



Leitner did not notify Howes, Walker, or Milliken of the meeting. (App. 21). Howes later learned of the meeting and thus contacted Leitner to inform him that he did not have permission to communicate with Howes's client Elizabeth. (App. 21).

On October 23, 2019, Howes sent the following email to Leitner:

David,

You may know that Kim has been appointed as Betsy's temporary guardian. If not, I am, as a courtesy, attaching a copy of the order and affidavit of mailing.

As Betsy is my client at this time as stated in the court order you do not have permission to communicate with her alone or with anyone else. Please respect that request.

Richard

(App. 21-22). On October 24, Howes sent another email to Leitner:

David,

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